

Natural and Organic Foods: Safety Considerations A Brief Review of the Literature

M. Ellin Doyle, Ph.D.

Food Research Institute, University of Wisconsin-Madison Madison, WI 53706

Contents

Introduction	1
Safety of Organic Foods	2
Residues of Pesticides and Drugs	2
Toxic and Antinutritional Compounds	3
Pathogenic Bacteria and Antibiotic Resistance	3
Nutrient Concentrations	4
Natural Antimicrobials, Preservatives, and Processing	4
Animal Products	4
Microbial Products	5
Plant Products	5
References	6

INTRODUCTION

Popularity of natural and organic foods is increasing as many consumers seek what they perceive as safer and more nutritious food produced under sustainable and ethical conditions. "Natural foods" have not been defined by FDA or USDA. They are generally considered to be minimally processed foods that do not contain any synthetic additives such as synthetic preservatives or artificial colorings. Synthetic fertilizers and pesticides may be used in production of natural foods but attempts are made to minimize their use.

"Organic foods" in the U.S.A. have been defined in the Code of Federal Regulations (7CFR205) with standards set for which processes and synthetic substances are acceptable for production and handling in order for foods to be certified as organic. Thus "organic" is a production claim and not a food safety

claim. According to USDA there are four labeling categories for organic foods: (a) "100% organic" foods contain only certified organic ingredients and use certified organic processing aids. (b) "Organic" foods must contain at least 95% certified organic ingredients. (c) Foods "made with organic" (specified ingredients) must contain at least 70% organic ingredients. (d) Foods with less than 70% organic ingredients may not display the USDA "organic" seal on the package but may identify which ingredients are organic on the ingredient panel (67). Other countries and organizations may have somewhat different standards for defining foods as organic (87).

Consumers cite a number of reasons for interest in organic foods. Primarily, these are health-related concerns: (a) lack of or low levels of nitrates, veterinary drugs, hormones, and pesticide residues and (b) higher nutrient content, particularly vitamins and phenolic compounds. In addition, supporters of

organic agriculture believe that these farmers use more environmentally responsible crop management methods that minimize pollution of ground and surface waters and avoid pesticide effects on nontarget organisms. By eliminating use of synthetic pesticides and fertilizers, use of petroleum is also reduced. Animal husbandry methods that reject routine use of subtherapeutic antibiotics may prevent an increase of antibiotic-resistant bacteria (74). In general, treatment of animals on organic farms is considered more ethical than that on large intensive, factory farms.

Over 31 million hectares of farmland worldwide are managed organically according to a 2005–2006 survey and, in addition, another 19.7 million hectares of land produce certified organic forest products and wild-harvested plants. Australia has the largest amount of land, about 12 million hectares, under organic management but this represents a very small percentage of its total agricultural land and much of this land is used for organic, low intensity grazing. In the European Union, organic farming is supported with legislation and direct payments and the 5.8 million hectares under organic management represent 3.4% of the agricultural area. Although only 1.4 million hectares in North America (0.3% of total agricultural area) are managed organically, the market for organic products has experienced the most rapid recent growth in this region accounting for \$14.5 billion dollars in 2005 (94).

This review is limited to food safety considerations related to natural and organic foods. Producers and processors of all types of foods are required to use good manufacturing procedures to produce safe foods. Producers of natural and organic foods may face special challenges because some drugs, pesticides and processing aids are not permitted under the definition of "organic." Economic issues, environmental effects, and ethical concerns related to animal husbandry will not be discussed here. Available data from the scientific literature will be summarized in an attempt to answer three questions:

- Are organic foods safer and more nutritious because pesticides, routine veterinary drugs, and other synthetic additives are not used and therefore residue levels are lower?
- Are organic foods less safe because pesticides, antibiotics, etc. are not used and therefore more pathogens and natural toxins are present?
- What natural antimicrobials and preservatives are available for use in processing organic foods?

SAFETY OF ORGANIC FOODS

Relative safety of natural and organic foods as compared to conventionally raised and processed foods remains controversial because there have been few well devised studies to compare these foods (44, 68). Contents of some nutrients and toxins, such as the mold toxin, aflatoxin, normally vary significantly even within a single plant variety depending on climatic conditions and soil type. Unless these factors are controlled, observed differences may not be the result of organic or conventional production methods. In addition, there are genetic differences among varieties. Comparative research studies include:

- retail market studies that analyze foods as they reach consumers. These studies can identify chemical differences, such as concentrations of residues and vitamins, but cannot definitively prove that the production method, and not other factors such as plant variety, weather conditions, and soil type, caused the observed differences between organic and conventional produce. In addition, it may be difficult to verify that on-farm and processing plant methods were organic. Accurate information on imported foods and food ingredients may be more difficult to obtain.
- **farm studies** that control for climatic conditions by studying nearby farms using conventional and organic production methods.
- research center studies that carefully control growing conditions and may be able to clearly identify factors responsible for differences in nutrients. These results, however, cannot necessarily be generalized to commercial production systems.

Residues of Pesticides and Drugs

A wide range of synthetic chemicals are used in conventional agriculture and some of these persist as residues in foods. Small amounts of pesticide residues are unavoidable on organic crops because farmers cannot control all environmental sources. Wind or water may spread pesticides and some pesticides may persist for several years in soil and be taken up by plants even after the land has been switched to organic production. Residue levels in crops are monitored by government agencies; most samples test below regulatory limits. Nevertheless, there is some concern that long term exposure to very small amounts of pesticides may have detrimental effects. Nearly all samples of organic foods have significantly lower levels of these chemicals than their conventional counterparts (33, 50).

Analyses of data from the USDA Pesticide Data Program (<u>http://www.ams.usda.gov/science/pdp/</u>),

the California Marketplace Surveillance Program, and private tests by Consumers Union indicated that organic foods consistently had about one third as many pesticide residues as conventionally grown produce and were far less likely to contain multiple pesticide residues. Concentrations of specific residues on particular crops were also consistently lower in organic foods. A few positive organic samples contained significant concentrations of pesticides which may have resulted from mislabeling or fraud (8).

A survey of N-methyl carbamate residues in infant foods in Canada detected very low levels of carbaryl and methomyl (maximum level of 18 ng/g) in some samples of conventionally produced meats, fruits, and deserts but no detectable residues in organically produced foods (73).

Lower levels of organophosphorus residues in organic foods decrease dietary exposure of children to these pesticides as shown by urinary biomonitoring of metabolites of malathion and chlorpyrifos during consumption of conventional and organic produce. These metabolites were not detectable after children were switched to a diet containing only organic vegetables (49).

Toxic and Antinutritional Compounds

Potato tubers contain glycoalkaloids to repel insects and these compounds can also be toxic to humans, if they are present in high enough concentrations (recommended maximum level is 200 mg/kg fresh weight). A farm study in Portugal compared glycoalkaloid levels in organic and conventional potatoes. No difference was observed for one potato variety but in the other variety glycoalkaloid levels were greater in conventionally grown (79.5 mg/kg) than in organically grown (44.6 mg/kg) potatoes (2). In another study, glycoalkaloid levels were reported to be higher in some varieties when grown organically. However, there were also significant year-to-year variations in these compounds (*36*).

High intakes of nitrate from drinking water have been shown to cause methemoglobinemia in infants and it has been suggested that high nitrate intakes can form carcinogenic nitrosamines in the stomach. However, dietary nitrate may also exert a protective effect by releasing nitric oxide. Therefore, it is not certain whether high nitrate concentrations in vegetables should be considered detrimental to adults. A number of studies have demonstrated lower nitrate levels in organically grown leafy vegetables (*34, 50*).

Mycotoxins, produced by fungi on plants during growth in the field or on grains during storage, are known to have toxic and carcinogenic effects. It has been suggested that plants grown without pesticides will be subject to more fungal infections and therefore have higher mycotoxin levels. However, the numerous studies that surveyed mycotoxin levels in organic and conventional grains and grain products have yielded inconsistent results. Significant year to year variations in mycotoxin levels occur even when the same strains are grown on the same land with the same agricultural practices because of variations in temperature and rainfall. Recent results for different mycotoxins have shown:

- **Deoxynivalenol (DON):** no significant differences between organic and conventional cereal products (41) or higher levels in conventional wheat and cereal products (15, 69, 80) and in organic beer in one year but not the next (5)
- Zearalenone (ZEN): higher levels in conventional wheat (69, 80)
- Ochratoxin A (OTA): higher levels in organic wheat (69) and in organic beer in one year but not the next (5) and no differences across several organic and conventional cereal products (10)
- Fumonisins (FUM): no differences between organic and conventional corn flakes (62) and higher levels of FUM B2 and lower levels of FUM B1 in organic cereal products (15)
- **Patulin:** more frequent and higher concentrations in organic fruit juices and purees (66)
- Aflatoxin M1: higher levels in some, but not all, samples of organic milk in Italy (33)

Pathogenic Bacteria and Antibiotic Resistance

Since antibiotics are not routinely fed to organically raised animals, it has been suggested that these animals may harbor higher levels of pathogenic bacteria. On the other hand, bacteria present in these animals may be more susceptible to antibiotics because they have not developed resistance. Other factors, such as density of animals, confinement vs. free-range management, and hygiene practices, may also affect persistence and spread of bacteria in a flock or herd.

Recent research provides some data that support these theories but results are not always clear-cut. *Salmonella typhimurium* was isolated from 61% of organically raised chickens and 44% of conventionally raised birds. Antibiotic resistance was higher in bacteria from conventionally raised chickens (18). Another study found no difference in *Salmonella* levels in chickens according to how they were raised but *Campylobacter* levels were higher on organic birds (91). Eggs from organically raised hens had higher counts of total aerobic bacteria but lower counts of Gram negative bacteria (20). Yersinia enterocolitica was detected in 18% of organically raised swine and in 29% of conventionally reared swine (59). Some studies with dairy cattle have reported more antibiotic resistant bacteria from conventionally raised animals (37, 74, 79) while others reported similar incidences of resistance in bacteria from animals in both breeding systems (76, 78).

Manure used to fertilize organic produce may contain pathogenic bacteria and it has been suggested that organically grown vegetables will potentially have greater numbers of foodborne pathogens because synthetic fertilizers are not used. However, a study of spring mix (mesclun) from California demonstrated that mean populations of bacteria and molds were similar on organic and conventional greens. Of 13 samples found to contain *E. coli*, nine were from conventional fields (65). Another study reported similar levels of coliform bacteria on conventional and organic fruits and vegetables. Prevalence of E. coli on certified organic produce was not statistically different from that on conventional produce. Use of manure or compost that was aged <12 months was associated with much higher levels of *E. coli* on produce than that seen on farms using older materials (54, 55).

Nutrient Concentrations

Some organically cultivated produce appears to have higher amounts of some nutrients and protective compounds, such as vitamin C, lycopene, and phenolic compounds. However, concentrations of these protective compounds also vary with variety and climate and soil conditions. Data on significance of elevated levels of these nutrients to human health is limited (*13, 33, 50, 60, 95*).

Phenolic compounds may act as antioxidants and exert other protective effects in the body. Concentrations of total phenolics and of particular phenolic compounds vary with climate and plant variety but have also been reported to be higher in organically grown berries (6), some varieties of tomatoes (13, 14), apples (38), yellow plums (46), and pac choi (93). No differences in phenolic compounds were observed for organically grown bell peppers (14) or oats (25) as compared to their conventionally grown counterparts.

Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) levels have been reported to be higher in organically grown potatoes (*36*), some tomatoes (*13, 14*), yellow plums (*46*), and strawberries (*60*).

A three-year study of commercially grown conventional versus organic grapefruit is being conducted by USDA in Texas. Numerous factors that might affect fruit quality were controlled: soils, irrigation source, variety, size of fruit, position on tree, time of harvest, and handling and treatment after harvest. Preliminary findings do not demonstrate great differences between the organic and conventional fruit but conventional fruit had higher levels of lycopene and bergamottin (which decreases metabolism of certain drugs including statins) and lower levels of naringenin, an antioxidant. No differences were observed in vitamin C levels (44). In another study, higher total antioxidant activity, including total phenolics and ascorbic acid, was reported for red oranges that were cultivated organically (84).

Milk from organic dairy farms in England was found to have higher levels of n-3 fatty acids and a consistently higher, beneficial ratio of n-3 to n-6 fatty acids as compared to conventionally produced milk. As with studies on organic produce, cattle breed and factors other than farming system also affected fatty acid content of the milk. Conjugated linoleic acid concentrations did not differ between organic and conventional milk (28).

NATURAL ANTIMICROBIALS, PRESERVATIVES, AND PROCESSING

Animal Products

Lactoferrin, derived from bovine milk, is a glycoprotein that binds iron thereby restricting or preventing bacterial growth. It can be sprayed on beef and other meats to inhibit growth of foodborne pathogens (58, 85) and may also be useful in controlling growth of spoilage bacteria (3).

Lysozyme, isolated from eggs, has well known antimicrobial effects against Gram-positive bacteria. Some peptides produced by limited protease digestion of lysozyme also have antibacterial effects and are also effective against some Gram-negative organisms. Commercially available lysozyme peptides (LzP) were reported to effectively inhibit both spores and vegetative cells of some food spoilage strains of *Bacillus* (1).

Lactoperoxidase system (LPS) is an antimicrobial system, naturally present in milk, that has been used to preserve quality of raw milk when adequate refrigeration is not available. The lactoperoxidase enzyme, present in relatively high amounts in milk, can oxidize thiocyanate ions in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. The products of this reaction bind to sulfhydryl groups of bacterial enzymes, inhibiting their activity. Use of LPS in dairy products and potential applications in other food systems were recently reviewed (81). LPS has been shown to strongly inhibit growth of pathogenic bacteria on beef cubes at 12°C and reduced viable counts of bacteria at refrigeration temperatures (27). LPS in combination with monolaurin inhibited E. coli O157:H7 and Staphylococcus aureus in broth, meat, and milk (51).

4

Microbial Products

<u>Bacteriocins</u> are compounds produced by some species of bacteria to inhibit the growth of other, competing bacteria, usually by attacking their cell membranes. Attempts have been made to use these compounds for controlling foodborne pathogens with some success. **Nisin** has been tested for use in a variety of foods with positive results particularly in cheese products and also in canned foods. Nisin is generally most effective against Gram-positive spoilage organisms. Other bacteriocins are under investigation for use in certain foods. Use of some of these compounds is limited by their sensitivity to heat and/or acidity.

<u>Reuterin</u> (45) and other compounds produced by bacteria such as Microguard® are more effective against Gram-negative bacteria, yeasts, and molds.

<u>Natamycin</u> is an antifungal compound produced by *Streptomyces* spp. bacteria that has been commercialized as a preservative for cheese and sausages. Natamycin does not inhibit bacterial activity and therefore will not affect fermentation bacteria (24).

Organic acids, such as acetic, citric, sorbic, and lactic, are produced by microbes and have been used as preservatives in a variety of foods. These may be introduced by addition of bacterial cultures in sausage and yogurt fermentations, or may be added as chemical compounds for example, for the preservation of bread (63), juices (17) and meats (26, 32, 82).

<u>Chitosan</u> is a polysaccharide derived from the exoskeleton of crabs and shrimp that inhibits growth of some bacteria and molds. Proposed applications in food safety include: inhibition of spoilage bacteria on cheese (4), in fermented cabbage (40), in cooked rice (86), and inhibition of *Clostridium perfringens* spore germination and outgrowth in ground beef and turkey (42).

Plant Products

Compounds present in cranberry are known to exert antimicrobial effects. Many other berries also inhibit pathogenic bacteria and may be useful in food preservation (70–72). Extracts of garlic and onions have demonstrated marked antibacterial and antifungal activity against a broad spectrum of organisms (9, 19).

Essential oils of some herbs and spices have antibacterial effects on foodborne pathogens with Gram-positive bacteria generally more susceptible. Concentrations of 0.1–10 mµl/ml are generally required to inhibit bacteria in laboratory media and when used to rinse fresh produce while 0.5–20 mµl/ml are required to achieve the same effect in foods. Some of the active ingredients that have been identified include: cinnamaldehyde, cinnamic acid, eugenol, perillaldehyde, thymol, and carvacrol and its precursor p-cymene. As natural extracts, these essential oils may have applications in organic products if they are selected appropriately for different types of food to avoid undesirable flavors (11).

Potency and effectiveness of plant essential oils as antibacterial and antifungal agents have recently been reviewed. Most of the active compounds in these oils appear to interact with and disrupt cell membranes. Examples of a number of herbs and spices and their potential uses in foods were described (*39*). Recent reports describing the antimicrobial effects of some essential oils or their principal constituents include:

- twenty-eight oils tested against *E. coli* O157:H7, *S. typhimurium, S. aureus*, and *L. monocytogenes* (61)
- three oils tested against *E. coli, Listeria innocua,* and *S. enteritidis* in fruit juices (75)
- ten essential oils tested against *E. coli* O157:H7 (52)
- capsicum extract tested against *S. typhimurium* and *P. aeruginosa* in raw beef (12)
- eight spices tested against *E. coli* (16)
- three herbs tested against *E. coli* O157:H7 in meat (35)
- eleven herbs tested against *B. cereus* in carrot juice (88, 89)
- rosemary and eucalyptus tested against *E. coli* (53)
- vanillin tested against *Listeria* in media (21) and in juices (17)
- vanillin tested against food spoilage yeasts and molds (29–31) and spoilage organisms on apples (77)
- mustard and its active ingredient, allyl isothiocyanate, tested against *E. coli* O157:H7 in ground beef (*56*, *57*) and against fungal contaminants in cheese (*92*)
- carvacrol and cymene tested against *E. coli* O157:H7 in apple juice (*43*)
- thymol and carvacrol tested against *Bacillus megaterium* (64)
- thymol and cymene on *B. cereus* in media and foods (22, 23)
- five herbs tested against *Aspergillus flavus* (47, 48)
- inhibition of aflatoxin production on sorghum by sweet basil (7)
- nine herbs tested against spoilage fungi in bread (83)
- eugenol, menthol and thymol tested against spoilage fungi on grapes (90)

Natural antimicrobial compounds are potentially very useful in preserving foods and inhibiting foodborne pathogens. Some of these compounds may show promise when tested in the laboratory but are not nearly as effective in foods. Others may alter the

References

- Abdou AM, Higashiguchi S, Aboueleinin AM, Kim M, and Ibrahim HR. 2007. Antimicrobial peptides derived from hen egg lysozyme with inhibitory effect against *Bacillus* species. Food Control 18:173–178.
- Abreu P, Relva A, Matthew S, Gomes Z, and Morais Z. 2007. High-performance liquid chromatographic determination of glycoalkaloids in potatoes from conventional, integrated, and organic crop systems. Food Control 18:40–44.
- 3. Al-Nabulsi AA and Holley RA. 2005. Effect of bovine lactoferrin against *Carnobacterium viridans*. Food Microbiol 22:179–187.
- 4. Altieri C, Scrocco C, Sinigaglia M, and Del Nobile MA. 2005. Use of chitosan to prolong mozzarella cheese shelf life. J Dairy Sci 88:2683–2688.
- Anselme M, Tangni EK, Pussemier L, Motte JC, Van Hove F, Schneider YJ, Van Peteghem C, and Larondelle Y. 2006. Comparison of ochratoxin A and deoxynivalenol in organically and conventionally produced beers sold on the Belgian market. Food Additiv Contam 23:910–918.
- Asami DK, Hong YJ, Barrett DM, and Mitchell AE. 2003. Comparison of the total phenolic and ascorbic acid content of freeze-dried and air-dried marionberry, strawberry, and corn grown using conventional, organic, and sustainable agricultural practices. J Agr Food Chem 51:1237–1241.
- Atanda OO, Akpan I, and Oluwafemi F. 2007. The potential of some spice essential oils in the control of *A. parasiticus* CFR 223 and aflatoxin production. Food Control 18:601–607.
- Baker BP, Benbrook CM, Groth E, and Benbrook KL. 2002. Pesticide residues in conventional, integrated pest management (IPM)-grown and organic foods: insights from three US data sets. Food Additiv Contam 19:427–446.
- Benkeblia N. 2004. Antimicrobial activity of essential oil extracts of various onions (*Allium cepa*) and garlic (*Allium sativum*). Lebensmittel-Wissenschaft Und-Technologie-Food Science and Technology 37:263–268.
- Biffi R, Munari M, Dioguardi L, Ballabio C, Cattaneo A, Galli CL, and Restani P. 2004. Ochratoxin A in conventional and organic cereal derivatives: a survey of the Italian market, 2001–02. Food Additiv Contam 21:586–591.
- 11. Burt S. 2004. Essential oils: their antibacterial properties and potential appliations in foods—a review. Int J Food Microbiol 94:223–253.
- Careaga M, Fernandez E, Dorantes L, Mota L, Jaramillo ME, and Hernandez-Sanchez H. 2003. Antibacterial activity of capsicum extract against

flavors or textures of foods in some undesirable fashion. Therefore, it will be important to test these compounds or extracts in real foods under expected conditions of use and of potential abuse.

> Salmonella typhimurium and Pseudomonas aeruginosa inoculated in raw beef meat. Int J Food Microbiol 83:331–335.

- Caris-Veyrat C, Amiot MJ, Tyssandier V, Grasselly D, Buret M, Mikolajczak M, Guilland JC, Bouteloup-Demange C, and Borel P. 2004. Influence of organic versus conventional agricultural practice on the antioxidant microconstituent content of tomatoes and derived purees; consequences on antioxidant plasma status in humans. J Agr Food Chem 52:6503–6509.
- Chassy AW, Bui L, Renaud ENC, Van Horn M, and Mitchell AE. 2006. Three-year comparison of the content of antioxidant microconstituents and several quality characteristics in organic and conventionally managed tomatoes and bell peppers. J Agr Food Chem 54:8244–8252.
- Cirillo T, Ritieni A, Visone M, and Cocchieri RA. 2003. Evaluation of conventional and organic Italian foodstuffs for deoxynivalenol and fumonisins B-1 and B-2. J Agr Food Chem 51:8128–8131.
- Corona A and Quaglio P. 2001. Sensitivity of *Escherichia coli* VTEC to herbs and spices. Industrie Alimentari 40:738–740.
- Corte FV, De Fabrizio SV, Salvatori DM, and Alzamora SM. 2004. Survival of *Listeria innocua* in apple juice as affected by vanillin or potassium sorbate. J Food Safety 24:1–15.
- Cui SH, Ge BL, Zheng J, and Meng JH. 2005. Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of *Campylobacter* spp. and *Salmonella* serovars in organic chickens from Maryland retail stores. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:4108–4111.
- Curtis H, Noll U, Stormann J, and Slusarenko AJ. 2004. Broad-spectrum activity of the volatile phytoanticipin allicin in extracts of garlic (*Allium sativum* L.) against plant pathogenic bacteria, fungi and oomycetes. Physiol Molec Plant Pathol 65:79– 89.
- De Reu K, Grijspeerdt K, Heyndrickx M, Uyttendaele M, Debevere J, and Herman L. 2006. Bacterial shell contamination in the egg collection chains of different housing systems for laying hens. Brit Poultry Sci 47:163–172.
- 21. Delaquis P, Stanich K, and Toivonen P. 2005. Effect of pH on the inhibition of *Listeria* spp. by vanillin and vanillic acid. J Food Prot 68:1472–1476.
- Delgado B, Fernandez PS, Palop A, and Periago PM. 2004. Effect of thymol and cymene on *Bacillus cereus* vegetative cells evaluated through the use of frequency distributions. Food Microbiol 21:327–334.
- Delgado B, Palop A, Fernandez PS, and Periago PM. 2004. Combined effect of thymol and cymene to

control the growth of *Bacillus cereus* vegetative cells. Eur Food Res Technol 218:188–193.

- Delves-Broughton J, Thomas LV, and Williams G. 2006. Natamycin as an antimycotic preservative on cheese and fermented sausages. Food Australia 58:19–21.
- Dimberg LH, Gissen C, and Nilsson J. 2005. Phenolic compounds in oat grains (*Avena sativa* L.) grown in conventional and organic systems. Ambio 34:331–337.
- Drosinos EH, Mataragas M, Kampani A, Kritikos D, and Metaxopoulos I. 2006. Inhibitory effect of organic acid salts on spoilage flora in culture medium and cured cooked meat products under commercial manufacturing conditions. Meat Science 73:75–81.
- Elliot RM, McLay JC, Kennedy MJ, and Simmonds RS. 2004. Inhibition of foodborne bacteria by the lactoperoxidase system in a beef cube system. Int J Food Microbiol 91:73–81.
- Ellis KA, Innocent G, Grove-White D, Cripps P, Mclean WG, Howard CV, and Mihm M. 2006. Comparing the fatty acid composition of organic and conventional milk. J Dairy Sci 89:1938–1950.
- Fitzgerald DJ, Stratford M, Gasson MJ, and Narbad A. 2005. Structure-function analysis of the vanillin molecule and its antifungal properties. J Agr Food Chem 53:1769–1775.
- Fitzgerald DJ, Stratford M, Gasson MJ, Ueckert J, Bos A, and Narbad A. 2004. Mode of antimicrobial action of vanillin against *Escherichia coli*, *Lactobacillus plantarum* and *Listeria innocua*. J Appl Microbiol 97:104–113.
- Fitzgerald DJ, Stratford M, and Narbad A. 2003. Analysis of the inhibition of food spoilage yeasts by vanillin. Int J Food Microbiol 86:113–122.
- Geornaras I, Skandamis PN, Belk KE, Scanga JA, Kendall PA, Smith GC, and Sofos JN. 2006. Postprocess control of *Listeria monocytogenes* on commercial frankfurters formulated with and without antimicrobials and stored at 10°C. J Food Prot 69:53–61.
- 33. Ghidini S, Zanardi E, Battaglia A, Varisco G, Ferretti E, Campanini G, and Chizzolini R. 2005. Comparison of contaminant and residue levels in organic and conventional milk and meat products from northern Italy. Food Additiv Contam 22:9–14.
- Guadagnin SG, Rath S, and Reyes FGR. 2005. Evaluation of the nitrate content in leaf vegetables produced through different agricultural systems. Food Additiv Contam 22:1203–1208.
- 35. Gupta S and Ravishankar S. 2005. A comparison of the antimicrobial activity of garlic, ginger, carrot, and turmeric pastes against *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in laboratory buffer and ground beef. Foodborne Pathog Dis 2:330–340.
- Hajslova J, Schulzova V, Slanina P, Janne K, Hellenas KE, and Andersson C. 2005. Quality of organically and conventionally grown potatoes: fouryear study of micronutrients, metals, secondary metabolites, enzymic browning and organoleptic properties. Food Additiv Contam 22:514–534.

- 37. Halbert LW/Kaneene JB, Ruegg PL, Warnick LD, Wells SJ, Mansfield LS, Fossler CR, Campbell AM, and Geiger-Zwald AM. 2006. Evaluation of antimicrobial susceptibility patterns in *Campylo-bacter* spp isolated from dairy cattle and farms managed organically and conventionally in the midwestern and northeastern United States. J Am Vet Med Assoc 228:1074–1081.
- Hecke K, Herbinger K, Veberic R, Trobec M, Toplak H, Stampar F, Keppel H, and Grill D. 2006. Sugar-, acid- and phenol contents in apple cultivars from organic and integrated fruit cultivation. Eur J Clin Nutr 60:1136–1140.
- Holley RA and Patel D. 2005. Improvement in shelflife and safety of perishable foods by plant essential oils and smoke antimicrobials. Food Microbiol 22:273–292.
- Inatsu Y, Bari ML, Kawasaki S, and Kawamoto S. 2005. Effectiveness of some natural antimicrobial compounds in controlling pathogen or spoilage bacteria in lightly fermented Chinese cabbage. J Food Sci 70:M393–M397.
- Jestoi M, Somma MC, Kouva M, Veijalainen P, Rizzo A, Ritieni A, and Peltonen K. 2004. Levels of mycotoxins and sample cytotoxicity of selected organic and conventional grain-based products purchased from Finnish and Italian markets. Molecular Nutrition & Food Research 48:299–307.
- 42. Juneja VK, Thippareddi H, Bari L, Inatsu Y, Kawamoto S, and Friedman M. 2006. Chitosan protects cooked ground beef and turkey against *Clostridium perfringens* spores during chilling. J Food Sci 71:M236–M240.
- 43. Kisko G and Roller S. 2005. Carvacrol and Pcymene inactivate *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in apple juice. BMC Microbiol 5:36 doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-5-36.
- 44. Lester GE. 2006. Organic versus conventionally grown produce: quality differences and guidelines for comparison studies. HortScience 41:296–300.
- 45. Liang HF, Chen CN, Chang Y, and Sung HW. 2003. Natural antimicrobial agent (reuterin) produced by *Lactobacillus reuteri* for sanitization of biological tissues inoculated with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Biotechnol Bioengin 84:233–239.
- 46. Lombardi-Boccia G, Lucarini M, Lanzi S, Aguzzi A, and Cappelloni M. 2004. Nutrients and antioxidant molecules in yellow plums (*Prunus domestica* L.) from conventional and organic productions: a comparative study. J Agr Food Chem 52:90–94.
- Lopez-Malo A, Alzamora SM, and Palou E. 2002. *Aspergillus flavus* dose-response curves to selected natural and synthetic antimicrobials. Int J Food Microbiol 73:213–218.
- Lopez-Malo A, Alzamora SM, and Palou E. 2005. *Aspergillus flavus* growth in the presence of chemical preservatives and naturally occurring antimicrobial compounds. Int J Food Microbiol 99:119–128.
- 49. Lu CS, Toepel K, Irish R, Fenske RA, Barr DB, and Bravo R. 2006. Organic diets significantly lower

children's dietary exposure to organophosphorus pesticides. Environ Health Perspect 114:260–263.

- Magkos F, Arvaniti F, and Zampelas A. 2006. Organic food: buying more safety or just peace of mind? a critical review of the literature. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 46:23–56.
- McLay JC, Kennedy MJ, O'Rourke AL, Elliot RM, and Simmonds RS. 2002. Inhibition of bacterial foodborne pathogens by the lactoperoxidase system in combination with monolaurin. Int J Food Microbiol 73:1–9.
- Moreira MR, Ponce AG, Del Valle CE, and Roura SI. 2005. Inhibitory parameters of essential oils to reduce a foodborne pathogen. Lwt-Food Sci Technol 38:565–570.
- Mounchid K, Bourjilat F, Dersi N, Aboussaouira T, Rachidai A, Tantaoui-Elaraki A, and Alaoui-Ismaili M. 2005. The susceptibility of *Escherichia coli* strains to essential oils of *Rosmarinus officinalis* and *Eucalyptus globulus*. African J Biotechnol 4:1175– 1176.
- 54. Mukherjee A, Speh D, Dyck E, and Diez Gonzalez F. 2004. Preharvest evaluation of coliforms, *Escherichia coli, Salmonella*, and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in organic and conventional produce grown by Minnesota farmers. J Food Prot 67:894–900.
- 55. Mukherjee A, Speh D, Jones AT, Buesing AM, and Diez Gonzalez F. 2006. Longitudinal microbiological survey of fresh produce grown by farmers in the upper Midwest. J Food Prot 69:1928–1936.
- Nadarajah D, Han JH, and Holley RA. 2005. Inactivation of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in packaged ground beef by allyl isothiocyanate. Int J Food Microbiol 99:269–279.
- Nadarajah D, Han JH, and Holley RA. 2005. Use of mustard flour to inactivate *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in ground beef under nitrogen flushed packaging. Int J Food Microbiol 99:257–267.
- Naidu AS, Tulpinski J, Gustilo K, Nimmagudda R, and Morgan JB. 2003. Activated lactoferrin Part 2: natural antimicrobial for food safety. Agro Food Industry Hi-Tech 14:27–31.
- 59. Nowak B, Von Mueffling T, Caspari K, and Hartung J. 2006. Validation of a method for the detection of virulent *Yersinia enterocolitica* and their distribution in slaughter pigs from conventional and alternative housing systems. Vet Microbiol 117:219–228.
- Olsson ME, Andersson CS, Oredsson S, Berglund RH, and Gustavsson KE. 2006. Antioxidant levels and inhibition of cancer cell proliferation in vitro by extracts from organically and conventionally cultivated strawberries. J Agr Food Chem 54:1248– 1255.
- 61. Oussalah M, Caillet S, Saucier L, and Lacroix M. 2007. Inhibitory effects of selected plant essential oils on the growth of four pathogenic bacteria: *E. coli* O157:H7, *Salmonella typhimurium, Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Listeria monocytogenes*. Food Control 18:414–420.
- Paepens C, De Saeger S, Sibanda L, Barna-Vetro I, Anselme M, Larondelle Y, and Van Peteghem C. 2005. Evaluation of fumonisin contamination in

cornflakes on the Belgian market by "flow-through" assay screening and LC-MS/MS analyses. J Agr Food Chem 53:7337–7343.

- Pattison TL, Lindsay D, and Von Holy A. 2004. Natural antimicrobials as potential replacements for calcium propionate in bread. S Afr J Sci 100:342– 348.
- 64. Periago PM, Conesa R, Delgado B, Fernandez PS, and Palop A. 2006. *Bacillus megaterium* spore germination and growth inhibition by a treatment combining heat with natural antimicrobials. Food Technol Biotechnol 44:17–23.
- Phillips CA and Harrison MA. 2005. Comparison of the microflora on organically and conventionally grown spring mix from a California processor. J Food Prot 68:1143–1146.
- Piemontese L, Solfrizzo M, and Visconti A. 2005. Occurrence of patulin in conventional and organic fruit products in Italy and subsequent exposure assessment. Food Additiv Contam 22:437–442.
- Plotto A and Narciso JA. 2006. Guidelines and acceptable postharvest practices for organically grown produce. Hortscience 41:287–291.
- Pussemier L, Larondelle Y, Carlos VPC, and Huyghebaert A. 2006. Chemical safety of conventionally and organically produced foodstuffs: a tentative comparison under Belgian conditions. Food Control 17:14–21.
- 69. Pussemier L, Pierard JY, Anselme M, Tangni EK, Motte JC, and Larondelle Y. 2006. Development and application of analytical methods for the determination of mycotoxins in organic and conventional wheat. Food Addit Contam 23:1208–1218.
- Puupponen-Pimia R, Nohynek L, Alakomi HL, and Oksman-Caldentey KM. 2005. The action of berry phenolics against human intestinal pathogens. Biofactors 23:243–251.
- Puupponen-Pimia R, Nohynek L, Alakomi HL, and Oksman-Caldentey KM. 2005. Bioactive berry compounds—novel tools against human pathogens. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 67:8–18.
- Puupponen-Pimia R, Nohynek L, Hartmann-Schmidlin S, Kahkonen M, Heinonen M, Maatta-Riihinen K, and Oksman-Caldentey KM. 2005. Berry phenolics selectively inhibit the growth of intestinal pathogens. J Appl Microbiol 98:991–1000.
- Rawn DFK, Roscoe V, Trelka R, Hanson C, Krakalovich T, and Dabeka RW. 2006. *N*-methyl carbamate pesticide residues in conventional and organic infant foods available on the Canadian retail market 2001–03. Food Additiv Contam 23:651–659.
- 74. Ray KA, Warnick LD, Mitchell RM, Kaneene JB, Ruegg PL, Wells SJ, Fossler CP, Halbert LW, and May K. 2006. Antimicrobial susceptibility of *Salmonella* from organic and conventional dairy farms. J Dairy Sci 89:2038–2050.
- Raybaudi-Massilia RM, Mosqueda-Melgar J, and Martin-Belloso O. 2006. Antimicrobial activity of essential oils on *Salmonella enteritidis*, *Escherichia coli*, and *Listeria innocua* in fruit juices. J Food Prot 69:1579–1586.

- Roesch M, Perreten V, Doherr MG, Schaeren W, Schallibaum M, and Blum JW. 2006. Comparison of antibiotic resistance of udder pathogens in dairy cows kept on organic and on conventional farms. J Dairy Sci 89:989–997.
- Rupasinghe HPV, Boulter-Bitzer J, Ahn T, and Odumeru JA. 2006. Vanillin inhibits pathogenic and spoilage microorganisms in vitro and aerobic microbial growth in fresh-cut apples. Food Res Int 39:575–580.
- Sato K, Bartlett PC, Kaneene JB, and Downes FP. 2004. Comparison of prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Campylobacter* spp. isolates from organic and conventional dairy herds in Wisconsin. Appl Environ Microbiol 70:1442–1447.
- Sato K, Bennedsgaard TW, Bartlett PC, Erskine RJ, and Kaneene JB. 2004. Comparison of antimicrobial susceptibility of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from bulk tank milk in organic and conventional dairy herds in the midwestern United States and Denmark. J Food Prot 67:1104–1110.
- Schneweis I, Meyer K, Ritzmann M, Hoffmann P, Dempfle L, and Bauer J. 2005. Influence of organically or conventionally produced wheat on health, performance and mycotoxin residues in tissues and bile of growing pigs. Arch Anim Nutr 59:155–163.
- Seifu E, Buys EM, and Donkin EF. 2005. Significance of the lactoperoxidase system in the dairy industry and its potential applications: a review. Trends Food Sci Technol 16:137–154.
- Serdengecti N, Yildirim I, and Gokoglu N. 2006. Effects of sodium lactate, sodium acetate and sodium diacetate on microbiological quality of vacuumpacked beef during refrigerated storage. J Food Safety 26:62–71.
- Suhr KI and Nielsen PV. 2003. Antifungal activity of essential oils evaluated by two different application techniques against rye bread spoilage fungi. J Appl Microbiol 94:665–674.
- Tarozzi A, Hrelia S, Angeloni C, Morroni F, Biagi P, Guardigli M, Cantelli-Forti G, and Hrelia P. 2006. Antioxidant effectiveness of organically and nonorganically grown red oranges in cell culture systems. Eur J Nutr 45:152–158.
- Taylor S, Brock J, Kruger C, Berner T, and Murphy M. 2004. Safety determination for the use of bovine milk-derived lactoferrin as a component of an antimicrobial beef carcass spray. Reg Toxicol Pharmacol 39:12–24.
- Tsai GJ, Tsai MT, Lee JM, and Zhong MZ. 2006. Effects of chitosan and a low-molecular-weight chitosan on *Bacillus cereus* and application in the preservation of cooked rice. J Food Prot 69:2168– 2175.
- Vaarst M, Padel S, Hovi M, Younie D, and Sundrum A. 2005. Sustaining animal health and food safety in European organic livestock farming. Livestock Prod Sci 94:61–69.
- 88. Valero M and Giner M J. 2006. Effects of antimicrobial components of essential oils on growth of *Bacillus cereus* Inra L2104 in and the sensory

qualities of carrot broth. Int J Food Microbiol 106:90–94.

- Valero M and Salmeron MC. 2003. Antibacterial activity of 11 essential oils against *Bacillus cereus* in tyndallized carrot broth. Int J Food Microbiol 85:73– 81.
- 90. Valverde JM, Guillen F, Martinez-Romero D, Castillo S, Serrano M, and Valero D. 2005. Improvement of table grapes quality and safety by the combination of modified atmosphere packaging (MAP) and eugenol, menthol, or thymol. J Agr Food Chem 53:7458–7464.
- Van Overbeke I, Duchateau L, De Zutter L, Albers G, and Ducatelle R. 2006. A comparison survey of organic and conventional broiler chickens for infectious agents affecting health and food safety. Avian Dis 50:196–200.
- Winther M and Nielsen PV. 2006. Active packaging of cheese with allyl isothiocyanate, an alternative to modified atmosphere packaging. J Food Prot 69:2430–2435.
- Young JE, Zhao X, Carey EE, Welti R, Yang SS, and Wang WQ. 2005. Phytochemical phenolics in organically grown vegetables. Molec Nutr Food Res 49:1136–1142.
- 94. Yussefi M. 2006. Organic farming worldwide 2006: overview and main statistics. http://www.soel.de/oekolandbau/weltweit.html
- 95. Zhao X, Carey EE, Wang WQ, and Rajashekar CB. 2006. Does organic production enhance phytochemical content of fruit and vegetables? current knowledge and prospects for research. Horttechnology 16:449–456.